# Complex Kleinian groups

Notes by José Seade and Angel Cano

ICTS Program: Groups, Geometry and Dynamics,

India, 2012



## INTRODUCTION

These notes, written jointly by Angel Cano and José Seade, have been prepared for the lectures of Seade at the "GROUPS, GEOMETRY AND DYNAMICS" School and Discussion Meeting, to be held at the Center of Excellence in Mathematical Sciences of the Kumaun University, at Almora, Uttarakhand, India, during December 3-16.

Our aim is to provide an introduction to the geometric and dynamical study of discrete group actions on complex projective spaces, a subject that in dimension one goes back to Poincaré and others, but which is in its childhood when we look at higher dimensions. We refer to the bibliography in these notes, and to our recent monograph [10], for more on this subject.

The first section provides a glimpse of the classical theory of Kleinian groups of isometries of real hyperbolic spaces. That is our starting point and the paradigm of what comes next. This paves the ground for the following sections.

In Section 2 we enter into the topic we aim to study in these lectures: The theory of Complex Kleinian groups. These are by definition groups of holomorphic automorphisms of complex projective spaces  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ . For n = 1 this coincides with the setting discussed in Section 1, but in higher dimensions, new features appear. A significant difference between complex dimension 1 and higher dimensions, comes from the role played by "the limit set". While in dimension 1 that concept is classical, this is not so in higher dimensions. It turns out that the "limit set" introduced by R. Kulkarni in the late 1970s plays a key-role in this discussion.

In Section 3 we discuss the classification of the elements in  $PSL(n+1, \mathbb{C})$ , following the classical classification of the elements in  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  into elliptic, parabolic and loxodromic transformations. The material in this section is based on work by A. Cano, L. Loeza and J. P. Navarrete. We discuss here the geometry and dynamics of each type of transformations. We know from Navarrete's work that every elliptic or parabolic element in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  is conjugate to (respectively) an elliptic or parabolic element in PU(2, 1), but there are new types of loxodromic elements in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  that cannot exist in PU(2, 1). It is interesting that when we come into higher dimensions, n > 2, the work of Cano and Loeza shows that one also has parabolic elements in  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  which do not exist in PU(n, 1): These are actually conjugate to parabolic elements in some projectivized group  $PU(k, l) \subset PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$ .

Finally, Section 4 is a brief description of the structure of the Kulkarni limit set for complex Kleinian subgroups of  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ . This is based on work, published and also in progress, by A. Cano, W. Barrera, L. Loeza, J. P. Navarrete and J. Seade.

We are grateful to Krishnendu Gongopadhyay for inviting us to deliver these lectures, thus giving us the opportunity to disseminate our work on this beautiful subject, which is still full of interesting questions and research problems, waiting to be explored.

## Contents

1	KLI	EINIAN GROUPS IN REAL HYPERBOLIC SPACE	3
	1.1	Inversions and the Möbius group	3
	1.2	Hyperbolic space	5
	1.3	Kleinian groups	6
	1.4	The low dimensions: the group $PSL(2, \mathbb{C}) \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	8
	1.5	Geometric classification of the elements in $\mathrm{Iso}_+(\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}})$	10
<b>2</b>	CO	MPLEX KLEINIAN GROUPS	12
	2.1	Complex projective space	13
	2.2	Complex Kleinian groups	14
	2.3	Complex hyperbolic and complex affine groups	15
	2.4	The Kulkarni limit set and examples	17
3	ON	THE CLASSIFICATION OF PROJECTIVE AUTOMORPHISMS	<b>21</b>
	3.1	The classical case	21
	3.2	Classification of the elements in $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$	24
	3.3	Classification of the elements in $PSL(n+1, \mathbb{C})$	30
4	TH	E KULKARNI LIMIT SET IN DIMENSION 2	33

## 1 KLEINIAN GROUPS IN REAL HYPERBOLIC SPACE

## 1.1 Inversions and the Möbius group

The material in this section is all well-known and there is a vast literature about it. Two general references for this section are Beardon's book [2] and the excellent notes of M. Kapovich [21].

Let us consider a classical type of transformations, which are analogous to reflections, the inversions. Given a circle C = C(a, r) in the plane  $\mathbb{R}^2$  with centre at a point  $a \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and radius r, the inversion in C is the map  $\iota = \iota(a, r)$  of the 2-sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2 \cong \widehat{\mathbb{R}}^2 := \mathbb{R}^2 \cup \infty$ defined for each  $z = (x, y) \neq a, \infty$  by:

$$\iota_{a,r}(x,y) = (a_1, a_2) + \frac{r^2}{|(x,y) - (a_1, a_2)|^2} (x - a_1, y - a_2);$$

define  $\iota(a) = \infty$  and  $\iota(\infty) = a$ . Notice that each  $z = (x, y) \neq a, \infty$  is carried into the unique point z' = (x', y') in the line determined by z and a which satisfies:

$$d(z,a) \cdot d(z',a) = r^2 \,,$$

where d(, a) is the usual distance to a. We remark that for circles of maximal length (*i.e.*, radius 1 in the 2-sphere) this map is just a reflection in the corresponding line in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

Notice this formula is easily adapted to describing inversions in (n-1)-spheres in  $\mathbb{S}^n \cong \mathbb{R}^n \cup \infty$ .

It is an exercise to show that inversions are conformal maps, *i.e.*, they preserve angles. That is, if two curves in  $\mathbb{S}^2$  meet with an angle  $\theta$ , then their images under an inversion also meet with an angle  $\theta$ . Moreover, one has that if  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  are circles in  $\mathbb{S}^2$  and  $\iota_1$  is the inversion with respect to  $C_1$ , then  $\iota_1(C_2) = C_2$  if and only if  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  meet orthogonally. In fact the same statement holds in all dimensions:

In fact the same statement holds in all dimensions:

**Theorem 1.1** Let  $C_1^{n-1}$ ,  $C_2^{n-1}$  be spheres of dimension n-1 in  $\mathbb{S}^n$  and  $\iota_1$  the inversion with respect to  $C_1$ . Then  $\iota_1(C_2) = C_2$  if and only if  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  meet orthogonally.

We now let  $\operatorname{M\"ob}(\mathbb{S}^n)$  be the group of diffeomorphisms of  $\mathbb{S}^n \cong \widehat{\mathbb{R}} = \mathbb{R}^n \cup \{\infty\}$  generated by inversions on all (n-1)-spheres in  $\mathbb{S}^n$ , and let  $\operatorname{M\"ob}(\mathbb{B}^n)$  be the subgroup of  $\operatorname{M\"ob}(\mathbb{S}^n)$ consisting of maps that preserve the unit ball  $\mathbb{B}^n$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

Notice that if the (n-1)-sphere  $S_1$  meets  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1} = \partial \mathbb{B}^n$  orthogonally then  $\mathcal{C} := S_1 \cap \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ is an (n-2)-sphere in  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  and the restriction to  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  of the inversion  $\iota_{S_1}$  coincides with the inversion on  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  defined by the (n-2)-sphere  $\mathcal{C}$ . In other words one has a canonical group homomorphism  $\mathrm{M\ddot{o}b}(\mathbb{B}^n) \to \mathrm{M\ddot{o}b}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})$ .

Conversely, given an (n-2)-sphere  $\mathcal{C}$  in  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  there is a unique (n-1)-sphere  $\mathcal{S}$  in  $\mathbb{S}^n$  that meets  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  orthogonally at  $\mathcal{C}$ . The inversion

$$\iota_{\mathcal{C}}: \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \to \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$$

extends canonically to the inversion:

$$\iota_{\mathcal{S}}:\mathbb{B}^n\to\mathbb{B}^n\,,$$

thus giving a canonical group homomorphism  $\text{M\"ob}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}) \to \text{M\"ob}(\mathbb{B}^n)$ , which is obviously the inverse morphism of the previous one. Thence one has:

**Lemma 1.2** There is a canonical group isomorphism  $M\ddot{o}b(\mathbb{B}^n) \cong M\ddot{o}b(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})$ .

**Definition 1.3** We call  $M\"ob(\mathbb{B}^n)$  (and also  $M\"ob(\mathbb{S}^n)$ ) the general M"obius group of the ball (or of the sphere).

The subgroup  $\operatorname{M\ddot{o}b}_+(\mathbb{B}^n)$  of  $\operatorname{M\ddot{o}b}(\mathbb{B}^n)$  of words of even length consists of the elements in  $\operatorname{M\ddot{o}b}(\mathbb{B}^n)$  that preserve the orientation. This is an index two subgroup of  $\operatorname{M\ddot{o}b}(\mathbb{B}^n)$ . Similar considerations apply to  $\operatorname{M\ddot{o}b}(\mathbb{S}^n)$ . We call  $\operatorname{M\ddot{o}b}_+(\mathbb{B}^n)$  and  $\operatorname{M\ddot{o}b}_+(\mathbb{S}^n)$  *M\"{o}bius groups* (of the ball and of the sphere, respectively).

It is easy to see that  $M\"ob(\mathbb{S}^n)$  includes:

- Euclidean translations: t(x) = x+a, where  $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . These are obtained by reflections on parallel hyperplanes.
- Rotations: t(x) = Ox, where  $O \in SO(n)$ ; obtained by reflections on hyperplanes through the origin.
- Homotecies, obtained by inversions on spheres with same centre and different radius.

In fact one has:

**Theorem 1.4** The group  $M\"ob(\mathbb{S}^n)$  of M"obius transformations is generated by the previous transformations: Translations, rotations and homotecies, together with the inversion:  $t(x) = x/||x||^2$ .

In fact one has that  $M\ddot{o}b_+(\mathbb{B}^n)$  contains the orthogonal group SO(n) as the stabilizer (or isotropy) subgroup at the origin 0 of its action on the open ball  $\mathbb{B}^n$ . The stabilizer of 0 under the action of the full group  $M\ddot{o}b(\mathbb{B}^n)$  is O(n). This implies that  $M\ddot{o}b_+(\mathbb{B}^n)$  acts transitively on the space of lines through the origin in  $\mathbb{B}^n$ . Moreover,  $M\ddot{o}b_+(\mathbb{B}^n)$  clearly acts also transitively on the intersection with  $\mathbb{B}^n$  of each ray through the origin. Thus it follows that  $M\ddot{o}b_+(\mathbb{B}^n)$  acts transitively on  $\mathbb{B}^n$ . In other words we have:

**Theorem 1.5** The group  $M\ddot{o}b_+(\mathbb{B}^n)$  acts transitively on the unit open ball  $\mathbb{B}^n$  with isotropy Aff(n). Furthermore, this action extends to the boundary  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1} = \partial \mathbb{B}^n$  and defines a canonical isomorphism between this group and the Möbius group  $M\ddot{o}b_+(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})$ .

We remark that for n > 2,  $M\"ob_+(S^{n-1})$  is the group of (orientation preserving) conformal automorphisms of the sphere (see for instance Apanasov's book [1]). That is, we have:

**Theorem 1.6** For all n > 2 we have group isomorphisms

 $M\ddot{o}b_+(\mathbb{B}^n) \cong M\ddot{o}b_+(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}) \cong \operatorname{Conf}_+(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}).$ 

In fact the previous constructions show that every element in  $\mathrm{M\ddot{o}b}_{+}(\mathbb{B}^{n})$  extends canonically to a conformal automorphism of the sphere at infinity  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}_{\infty} := \overline{\mathbb{H}}^{n}_{\mathbb{R}} \setminus \mathbb{H}^{n}_{\mathbb{R}}$  and conversely, every conformal automorphism of  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}_{\infty}$  extends to an element in  $\mathrm{M\ddot{o}b}_{+}(\mathbb{B}^{n})$ .

### **1.2** Hyperbolic space

We now use Theorem 1.5 to construct a model for hyperbolic *n*-space  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$ . We recall that a riemannian metric g on a smooth manifold M means a choice of a positive definite quadratic form on each tangent space  $T_x M$ , varying smoothly over the points in M. Such a metric determines lengths of curves as usual, and so defines a metric on M in the usual way, by declaring the distance between two points to be the infimum of the lengths of curves connecting them.

Now consider the open unit ball  $\mathbb{B}^n$ , its tangent space  $T_0\mathbb{B}^n$  at the origin, and fix the usual riemannian metric on it, which is invariant under the action of O(n). Given a point  $x \in \mathbb{B}^n$ , consider an element  $\gamma \in \text{M\"ob}(\mathbb{B}^n)$  with  $\gamma(0) = x$ . Let  $D\gamma_0$  denote the derivative at 0 of the automorphism  $\gamma : \mathbb{B}^n \to \mathbb{B}^n$ . This defines an isomorphism of vector spaces  $D\gamma_0 : T_0\mathbb{B}^n \to T_x\mathbb{B}^n$  and allows us to define a riemannian metric on  $T_x\mathbb{B}^n$ . In this way we get a riemannian metric at each tangent space of  $\mathbb{B}^n$ .

We claim that the above construction of a metric on the open ball is well defined, *i.e.*, that the metric one gets on  $T_x \mathbb{B}^n$  does not depend on the choice of the element  $\gamma \in \text{M\"ob}(\mathbb{B}^n)$  taking 0 into x. In fact, if  $\eta \in \text{M\"ob}(\mathbb{B}^n)$  is another element taking 0 into x, then  $\eta^{-1} \circ \gamma$  leaves 0 invariant and is therefore an element in O(n). Since the orthogonal group O(n) preserves the metric at  $T_0 \mathbb{B}^n$ , it follows that both maps,  $\gamma$  and  $\eta$ , induce the same metric on  $T_x \mathbb{B}^n$ . Hence this construction yields to a well-defined riemannian metric on  $\mathbb{B}^n$ .

It is easy to see that this metric is complete and homogeneous with respect to points, directions and 2-planes, so it has constant (negative) sectional curvature.

**Definition 1.7** The open unit ball  $\mathbb{B}^n \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  equipped with the above metric serves as a model for the *hyperbolic n-space*  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$ . The group  $\mathrm{M\ddot{o}b}(\mathbb{B}^n)$  is its group of isometries, also denoted  $\mathrm{Iso}(\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}})$ , and its index two subgroup  $\mathrm{M\ddot{o}b}_+(\mathbb{B}^n)$  is the group of orientation preserving isometries of  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$ ,  $\mathrm{Iso}_+(\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}})$ .

In the sequel we denote the real hyperbolic space by  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$ , to distinguish it from the complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{C}}$  (of real dimension 2n) that we will consider later. Also, we denote by  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}_{\infty}$  the sphere at infinity, that is, the boundary of  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$  in  $\mathbb{S}^n$ . We set  $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^n_{\mathbb{R}} := \mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}} \cup \mathbb{S}^{n-1}_{\infty}$ .

Given that we have a metric in  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$ , we can speak of length of curves, area, volume, and so on. We also have the concept of *geodesics*: curves that minimize (locally) the distance between points. These are the segments of curves in  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$  which are contained in circles that meet the boundary  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}_{\infty}$  orthogonally.

Notice that the constructions above show that every isometry of  $\operatorname{Iso}(\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}})$  extends canonically to a conformal automorphism of the sphere at infinity  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}_{\infty}$  and conversely, every conformal automorphism of  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}_{\infty}$  extends to an isometry of  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$ .

### 1.3 Kleinian groups

We now consider a subgroup  $\Gamma \subset Iso(\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}})$  and look at its action on the hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$ . We want to study how the orbits of points in  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$  (and in  $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$ ) behave under the action of  $\Gamma$ .

**Definition 1.8** Let  $\Gamma \subset \text{Iso}(\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}})$  be a discrete subgroup. The *limit set* of  $\Gamma$  is the subset  $\Lambda = \Lambda(\Gamma)$  of  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}_{\infty}$  of points which are accumulation points of orbits in  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$ . That is,

$$\Lambda := \left\{ y \in \mathbb{S}_{\infty}^{n-1} \, | \, y = \lim\{g_m(x)\} \text{ for some } x \in \mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{R}}^n \text{ and } \{g_m\} \text{ a sequence in } \operatorname{Iso}(\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{R}}^n) \right\}.$$

By definition, this is a closed, invariant subset of  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}_{\infty}$  which is non-empty, unless  $\Gamma$  is finite. This is the set where the dynamics concentrate. It can happen that  $\Lambda$  is the whole sphere at infinity, as for instance in the previous example of the triangle subgroups of isometries of  $\mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ .

**Definition 1.9** A discrete subgroup of  $\text{Iso}(\mathbb{H}^{n+1}) \cong \text{Conf}(\mathbb{S}^n)$  is *Kleinian* if its limit set is not the whole sphere at infinity.

In the sequel we refer to these as *conformal Kleinian groups*, to distinguish them from the complex Kleinian groups that we shall study later.

We remark that nowadays the term "Kleinian group" is often used for an arbitrary discrete subgroup of hyperbolic motions, regardless of whether or not the region of discontinuity is empty.

Let us consider for a moment a more general setting. Let G be some Lie group acting on a smooth Riemannian manifold M by smooth maps.

**Definition 1.10** i. The action of G is *discontinuous at*  $x \in M$  if there is a neighbourhood U of x such that the set

$$\{g \in G \mid gU \cap U \neq \emptyset\}$$

is finite. The set of points in M at which G acts discontinuously is called the *region* of discontinuity. The action is discontinuous on M if it is discontinuous at every point in M.

ii. The action is *properly discontinuous* on an open invariant set  $U \subset M$  if for each non empty compact set  $K \subset M$  the set

$$\{g \in G \mid gK \cap K \neq \emptyset\},\$$

is finite.

iii. The action is equicontinuous on an open invariant set  $U \subset M$  if all the transformations have "equal variation". More precisely, the action is equicontinuous at a point  $x_0 \in U$  if for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists a  $\delta > 0$  such that  $d(g(x_0), g(x)) < \varepsilon$ for all  $g \in G$  and all x such that  $d(x_0, x) < \delta$ . The family is equicontinuous if it is equicontinuous at each point of U. We remark that by Arzelà-Ascoli's theorem, equicontinuity is equivalent to demanding that the transformations defined by the group action form a normal family, *i.e.*, every sequence  $\{g_n\} \subset G$  contains a subsequence which converges uniformly on compact sets in U.

Notice also that, clearly, every properly discontinuous action is *a fortiori* discontinuous, but not conversely. For instance:

**Example 1.11 (Kulkarni)** Consider the map T in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  given by  $(x, y) \mapsto (\frac{1}{2}x, 2y)$  and all its iterates  $\{T_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$ . This gives an action of  $\mathbb{Z}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  which is discontinuous away from the origin 0. Notice that if we take a circle C around the origin, then its forward orbit accumulates on the whole  $\{y\}$ -axe, while the backwards orbit accumulates on the  $\{x\}$ -axe. So this action is not properly discontinuous on  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ . Yet we notice that the action is properly discontinuous on  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{y = 0\}$ .

This example shows that not every discontinuous action is properly discontinuous: Yet, for Kleinian groups one has (see the literature for a proof):

**Theorem 1.12** Let G be a discrete subgroup of  $\operatorname{Iso}(\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}})$ . Then G acts properly discontinuously on  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$  and its limit set is the complement of the region of discontinuity  $\Omega$  of its action on  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}_{\infty}$ . Furthermore,  $\Omega$  is the largest region in  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}_{\infty}$  where the action is properly discontinuous, and it is also the largest region in the sphere where the action is equicontinuous.

So, whenever we have a Kleinian group, the sphere  $\mathbb{S}_{\infty}^{n-1}$  splits in two sets, which are invariant under the group action: the limit set  $\Lambda$ , where the dynamics concentrates, and the region of discontinuity  $\Omega$  where the dynamics is "mild" and plays an important role in geometry, as we will see later.

### **1.4** The low dimensions: the group $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$

The two and three dimensional cases are classical and can be regarded simultaneously. Consider the open 3-ball  $\mathbb{B}^3$  and its boundary  $\partial \mathbb{B}^3$ , which is the 2-sphere, that we regard as being the Riemann sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2$ , *i.e.*, the usual 2-sphere equipped with a complex structure, making it biholomorphic to the extended complex plane  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{C} \cup \infty$ , also called the *Cauchy* plane.

It is explained in many text books that in this dimension, an orientation preserving diffeomorphism of  $\mathbb{S}^2$  is conformal if and only if it is holomorphic. This is essentially a consequence of the Cauchy-Riemann equations. Moreover, every holomorphic automorphism of the Riemann sphere is a Möbius transformation  $z \mapsto \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$ , where a, b, c, d are complex numbers such that ad - bc = 1.

Let us look now at the group  $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$  of  $2 \times 2$  complex matrices with determinant 1. This group acts linearly on  $\mathbb{C}^2$ , so it acts on the complex projective line  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  which is biholomorphic to the Riemann sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2 \cong \mathbb{C} \cup \infty := \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ . The induced action of  $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$  on  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  is via the Möbius transformations:

$$z \mapsto \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$$
.

Thus one has a natural projection

$$\operatorname{SL}(2,\mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Conf}_+(\mathbb{S}^2) \cong \operatorname{Iso}_+(\mathbb{H}^3_{\mathbb{R}}),$$

given by  $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$ . This is in fact a homomorphism of groups: the product of two matrices in  $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$  maps to the composition of the corresponding Möbius transformations.

It is clear that the above projection is surjective. Furthermore, two matrices in  $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$  define the same Möbius transformation if and only if they differ by multiplication by  $\pm 1$ . Hence the group  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C}) \cong SL(2, \mathbb{C})/\{\pm I\}$  can be identified with the group of all Möbius transformations  $\{\frac{az+b}{cz+d}\}$ , which is isomorphic to the group of orientation preserving isometries of the hyperbolic 3-space. This coincides with the group of holomorphic automorphisms of the Riemann sphere; it also coincides with  $Conf_+(\mathbb{S}^2)$ , the group of orientation preserving conformal automorphisms on  $\mathbb{S}^2$ .

Summarizing:

**Theorem 1.13** One has the following isomorphisms of groups:

$$Iso_{+}(\mathbb{H}^{3}_{\mathbb{R}}) \cong M\ddot{o}b_{+}(\mathbb{B}^{3}) \cong Conf_{+}(\mathbb{S}^{2}) \cong$$
$$\cong \left\{ \frac{az+b}{cz+d} ; a, b, c, d, \in \mathbb{C} , ad-bc=1 \right\} \cong PSL(2,\mathbb{C})$$

Now recall that a Möbius transformation  $\frac{az+b}{cz+d}$  with ad-bc = 1 preserves the upper half plane  $\mathcal{H} \subset \mathbb{C}$  if and only if a, b, c, d are real numbers. These correspond to compositions of inversions in  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{C} \cup \infty$  on circles (or lines) orthogonal to the *x*-axis. Hence these are isometries of  $\mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$  and one has:

#### Theorem 1.14

$$\operatorname{Iso}_{+}(\mathbb{H}^{2}_{\mathbb{R}}) \cong M \ddot{o} b_{+}(\mathbb{B}^{2}) \cong \left\{ \frac{\operatorname{az} + \operatorname{b}}{\operatorname{cz} + \operatorname{d}} ; \operatorname{a}, \operatorname{b}, \operatorname{c}, \operatorname{d}, \in \mathbb{R}, \operatorname{ad} - \operatorname{bc} = 1 \right\} \cong \operatorname{PSL}(2, \mathbb{R})$$

### 1.5 Geometric classification of the elements in $Iso_+(\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}})$

We now classify the elements of  $\text{Iso}_+(\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}})$  in terms of their fixed points. We start with the case n = 2 which is classical and there is a vast literature about this topic (see for instance [23], [2]). By the theorem above, an isometry of the hyperbolic plane can be regarded as a Möbius transformation T given by  $z \mapsto \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$  with  $a, b, c, d, \in \mathbb{R}$  and ad - bc = 1. The fixed points of T are the points where T(z) = z. These are the solutions of the equation:

$$z = \frac{(a-d) \pm \sqrt{(d-a)^2 + 4bc}}{2c}$$

Since the coefficients a, b, c, d are all real numbers we have the following three possibilities:

- i)  $(d-a)^2 + 4bc < 0;$
- ii)  $(d-a)^2 + 4bc = 0;$
- iii)  $(d-a)^2 + 4bc > 0$ .

Assuming, as we do, ad - bc = 1, we have:

$$(d-a)^{2} + 4bc = (a+d)^{2} - 4,$$

and a + d is the trace of the matrix  $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$ , so we call  $\operatorname{Tr}(T) := a + d$  the trace of T. Then the three cases above can be written as::

- i)  $0 \leq \text{Tr}^2(T) < 4$ . The map T is called *elliptic*;
- ii)  $\operatorname{Tr}^2(T) = 4$ . The map T is called *parabolic*
- iii)  $\operatorname{Tr}^2(T) > 4$ . The map T is called *hyperbolic*.

In the first case the map T has one fixed point in  $\mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ , regarded as the upper halfplane  $\mathbb{H} = \{Im \, z > 0\}$ ; the other fixed point is the complex conjugate of the previous one, so it is in the lower half-plane. In the second case T has only one fixed point (of multiplicity two) and this is contained in the x-axis (union  $\infty$ ), which is the "boundary" of the hyperbolic plane, the sphere at infinity. In the third case T has two distinct fixed points, both contained in the sphere at infinity.

If T is elliptic then one can conjugate it by an automorphism of the Riemann sphere to make it have its fixed points at 0 and  $\infty$ , and T becomes a rotation around the origin,  $T(z) = e^{i\theta} z$ .

If T is parabolic then it is conjugate in  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  to a map of the form S(z) = z + k, with  $k \in \mathbb{R}$  constant. This map is a translation and has  $\infty$  as its fixed point.

If T is hyperbolic then it is conjugate in  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  to a map of the form  $S(z) = \lambda^2 z$ , with  $\lambda$  real and  $\neq \pm 1$ . This map has 0 and  $\infty$  as fixed points and all other points move along straight lines through the origin. This description is good in some sense, but it is not satisfactory because the map S does not preserve  $\mathbb{H}$ , which is our model for  $\mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ . To describe its dynamics in  $\mathbb{H}$  it is better to consider its fixed points  $x_1, x_2$ , and assume for simplicity that both are finite and contained in the real-axis. These two points determine a unique geodesic in  $\mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ , namely the unique half-circle in  $\mathbb{H}$  with end-points  $x_1, x_2$  and meeting orthogonally the x-axis. This geodesic is invariant under T. Moreover, given any other point  $x \in \mathbb{H}$ , there is a unique circle passing through  $x_1, x_2$  and x. These circles fill out the whole space  $\mathbb{C}$  and they are invariant under T, so they are unions of orbits. When the fixed points are taken to be 0 and  $\infty$ , these circles become the straight lines through the origin, or the meridians through the North and South poles if we think of T as acting on the Riemann sphere.

If we consider now an isometry T of  $\mathbb{H}^3_{\mathbb{R}}$  and we think of it as a Möbius transformation with (possibly) complex coefficients, then we have again three possibilities:

- i. The map T has two distinct fixed points which are both complex conjugate numbers. In this case T is said to be *elliptic*, as before. Again, T is conjugate in  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  to a rotation.
- ii. The map T has only one fixed point which is real. In this case T is said to be *parabolic* and it is conjugate in  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  to a translation.
- iii. The map T has two distinct fixed points which are both real numbers. In this case, as before, T is conjugate in  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  to a map of the form  $z \mapsto \lambda^2 z$ , but this time  $\lambda$  can be a complex number with  $|\lambda| \neq 1$ . In this case T is said to be *loxodromic*. Now T leaves invariant the geodesic in  $\mathbb{H}^3$  that has end-points at the fixed points of T and the dynamics of all other points is a translation along that geodesic, together with a rotation around it. The number  $\lambda$  is called the *multiplier* of T. When this number is real the map is said to be *hyperbolic*, and in that case there is no rotation, only translation along the geodesic.

In order to give a similar classification in higher dimensions it is convenient to look at these transformations "from the inside" of the hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$  (see [20] for a deeper and more complete description of this classification). Let T be an isometry of  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$  and pick up a point  $p \in \mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$  such that the points p, T(p) and  $T^2(p)$  are not in an Euclidean straight line. Let  $\mathcal{L}$  be the line that bisects the angle that they form, and look at the lines  $T^{-1}(\mathcal{L})$ ,  $\mathcal{L}$  and  $T(\mathcal{L})$ . There are three possibilities:

- i. These three lines intersect in  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$ .
- ii. These three lines intersect at the (n-1)-sphere at infinity of  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$ .
- iii. These three lines do not intersect neither in  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$  nor at the sphere at infinity.

In the first case T has a fixed point at the meeting point of the three lines. The map T is said to be *elliptic*. These maps form an open set in  $\text{Iso}(\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}})$ .



Figure 1: The three types of isometries

In the second situation the three lines are *parallel* in hyperbolic space and one has a fixed point at infinity. The map is a translation and it is said to be *parabolic*; this can be regarded as a limit case between the other two.

The last case is when the lines are *ultra-parallel*, *i.e.*, they do not meet in  $\overline{\mathbb{H}}_{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$  (see Thurston's book for more on the topic). Now T leaves invariant the geodesic  $\gamma$  that minimises the length between the lines L and T(L). In this case T is a translation along  $\gamma$  and a rotation around it. The end-points of  $\gamma$  are fixed points of T. These maps are called *loxodromic* (or just *hyperbolic*) and they also form an open set in  $\mathrm{Iso}(\mathbb{H}_{\mathbb{R}}^{n})$ .

## 2 COMPLEX KLEINIAN GROUPS

In the previous section we studied discrete subgroups of isometries of real hyperbolic spaces  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$ . When n = 3, the sphere at infinity is 2-dimensional and we can think of it as being the Riemann sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2$ , which is a complex 1-dimensional manifold, diffeomorphic to the projective line  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ . In this case one has that every (orientation preserving) element in the conformal group  $\operatorname{Conf}_+(\mathrm{S}^2)$  is actually a Möbius transformation:

$$z \mapsto \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$$
,

where a, b, c, d are complex numbers such that ad - bz = 1. The set of all such maps forms a group, which is isomorphic to the group  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  of projective automorphisms of  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ :

$$\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C}) := \operatorname{SL}(2,\mathbb{C})/\pm \operatorname{Id},$$

where  $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$  is the group of  $2 \times 2$  matrices with complex coefficients and determinant 1, and Id is the identity matrix. Hence, considering discrete subgroups of  $Iso_+(\mathbb{H}^3_{\mathbb{R}})$  is the same thing as considering discrete subgroups of  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$ .

Let us focus now on studying discrete subgroups of  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$ , the group of automorphisms of the complex projective space  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ . We start by recalling some well-known facts about these spaces.

#### 2.1 Complex projective space

We recall that the complex projective space  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  is defined as:

$$\mathbb{CP}^n = (\mathbb{C}^{n+1} - \{0\}) / \sim,$$

where " $\sim$ " denotes the equivalence relation given by  $x \sim y$  if and only if  $x = \alpha y$  for some nonzero complex scalar  $\alpha$ . In short,  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  is the space of complex lines through the origin in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$ .

Consider for instance  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ . Every point here represents a complex line through the origin in  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . Recall that a complex line  $\ell$  through the origin is always determined by a unit vector in it, say v, together with all its complex multiples. In other words, a unit vector v in  $\mathbb{C}^2$  determines the complex line

$$\ell = \{\lambda \cdot v \,|\, \lambda \in \mathbb{C}\}.$$

Notice that the unit vectors in  $\mathbb{C}^2$  form the 3-sphere  $\mathbb{S}^3$ , just as the unit vectors in  $\mathbb{C}$  form the circle

$$\mathbb{S}^1 = \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C} \, | \, z = e^{i\theta} \, , \theta \in [0, 2\pi] \right\}.$$

Notice that the circle  $\mathbb{S}^1$  acts on  $\mathbb{C}^2$  in the obvious way:  $e^{i\theta} \cdot (z_1, z_2) \mapsto (e^{i\theta} z_1, e^{i\theta} z_2)$ ). This action preserves distances in  $\mathbb{C}^2$ , so given a point  $v \in \mathbb{S}^3 \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ , its orbit under this  $\mathbb{S}^1$ -action is the set  $\{(e^{i\theta} \cdot v)\}$ , which is a circle in  $\mathbb{S}^3$  contained in the complex line determined by v. That is, the intersection of  $\mathbb{S}^3$  with every complex line through the origin in  $\mathbb{C}^2$  is a circle, and one has:

$$\mathbb{CP}^1 \cong \mathbb{S}^3 / \mathbb{S}^1 \cong \mathbb{S}^2$$

The projection  $\mathbb{S}^3 \to \mathbb{CP}^1 \cong \mathbb{S}^2$  is known as the Hopf fibration.

More generally,  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  is a compact, connected, complex *n*-dimensional manifold, diffeomorphic to the orbit space  $\mathbb{S}^{2n+1}/\mathbb{U}(1)$ , where  $\mathbb{U}(1) \cong \mathbb{S}^1$  is acting coordinate-wise on the unit sphere in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$ . In fact, we usually represent the points in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  by homogeneous coordinates  $(z_1 : z_2 : \cdots : z_{n+1})$ . This means that we are thinking of a point in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  as being the equivalence class of the point  $(z_1, z_2 : \cdots , z_{n+1})$  up to multiplication by non-zero complex numbers. Hence if, for instance, we look at points where the first coordinate  $z_1$ is not zero, then the point  $(z_1 : z_2 : \cdots : z_{n+1})$  is the same as  $(1 : \frac{z_2}{z_1} : \cdots : \frac{z_{n+1}}{z_1})$ . Notice this is just a copy of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . That is, every point in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  that can be represented by a point  $(z_1 : z_2 : \cdots : z_{n+1})$  with  $z_1 \neq 0$ , has a neighbourhood diffeomorphic to  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , consisting of all points where  $z_2 \neq 0$  and so on. This provides the classical way for constructing an atlas for  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  with (n + 1) coordinate charts. Notice one has a projection  $\mathbb{S}^{2n+1} \to \mathbb{CP}^n$ , a *Hopf fibration*, and the usual riemannian metric on  $\mathbb{S}^{2n+1}$  is invariant under the action of U(1). Therefore this metric descends to a riemannian metric on  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ , which is known as the *Fubini-Study* metric.

It is clear that every linear automorphism of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  defines a holomorphic automorphism of  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ , and it is well-known that every automorphism of  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  arises in this way. Thus one has that the group of projective automorphisms is:

$$\operatorname{PSL}(n+1,\mathbb{C}) := \operatorname{GL}(n+1,\mathbb{C})/(\mathbb{C}^*)^{n+1} \cong SL(n+1,\mathbb{C})/\mathbb{Z}_{n+1},$$

where  $(\mathbb{C}^*)^{n+1}$  is being regarded as the subgroup of diagonal matrices with a single nonzero eigenvalue, and we consider the action of  $\mathbb{Z}_{n+1}$  (viewed as the roots of the unity) on  $\mathrm{SL}(n+1,\mathbb{C})$  given by the usual scalar multiplication. Then  $\mathrm{PSL}(n+1,\mathbb{C})$  is a Lie group whose elements are called projective transformations.

There is a classical way of decomposing the projective space that paves the way for studying complex hyperbolic geometry. For this we think of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  as being a union  $N_{-} \cup N_0 \cup N_+$ , where each of these sets consists of the points  $(z_1, \dots, z_{n+1}) \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  satisfying that  $|z_{n+1}|^2$  is, respectively, larger, equal or smaller than  $|z_1|^2 + \dots + |z_n|^2$ . It is clear that each of these sets is a complex cone, that is, union of complex lines through the origin in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$ , with (deleted) vertex at 0.

Obviously

$$S := \{ (z_1, \cdots, z_{n+1}) \in N_0 \, | \, z_{n+1} = 1 \, \} \, ,$$

is a sphere of dimension (2n-1), and  $N_0$  is the union of all complex lines in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  joining the origin  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  with a point in S; each such line meets S in a single point. Hence the projectivisation  $[S] = (N_0 \setminus \{0\})/\mathbb{C}^*$  of  $N_0$  is a (2n-1)-sphere in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  that splits this space in two sets, which are the projectivisations of  $N_-$  and  $N_+$ . The set  $N_0$  is often called *the cone of light*.

Similarly, notice that the projectivisation of  $N_{-}$  is an open (2n)-ball  $\mathbb{B}$  in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ , bounded by the sphere [S]. This ball serves as model for complex hyperbolic geometry, as we will see in the following section, where we describe its full group of holomorphic isometries, which is naturally a subgroup of projective transformations. This gives a natural source of discrete subgroups of  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$ , those coming from complex hyperbolic geometry.

### 2.2 Complex Kleinian groups

Recall from the previous section that the action of a subgroup  $G \subset PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  is properly discontinuous on an invariant open set  $U \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$  if for every compact set  $K \subset U$ one has that the set

$$\{g \in G \,|\, gK \cap K \neq \varnothing\}$$

is finite.

**Definition 2.1** A discrete subgroup  $\Gamma$  of  $PSL(n+1, \mathbb{C})$  is *complex Kleinian* if there exists a non-empty open invariant set in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  where the action is properly discontinuous.

As we know already, for n = 1,  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  is the Riemann sphere,  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  can be regarded as being the group of (orientation preserving) isometries of the hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{H}^3_{\mathbb{R}}$  and we are in the situation envisaged previously, of classical Kleinian groups.

Notice that in this classical case, there is a particularly interesting class of Kleinian subgroups of  $PSL(2,\mathbb{C})$ : Those which are conjugate to a subgroup of  $PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$ . This latter group can be regarded as the group of Möbius transformations with real coefficients:

$$z\mapsto rac{az+b}{cz+d}$$
 ,  $ad-bc=1$  ,  $a,b,c,d\in\mathbb{R}$  .

These are the Möbius transformations that preserve the upper half plane in  $\mathbb{C}$ . And if we identify the Riemann sphere with the extended plane  $\mathbb{C} \cup \infty$ , via stereographic projection, these are the conformal automorphisms of the sphere that preserve the Southern hemisphere, *i.e.*, they leave invariant a 2-ball in  $\mathbb{S}^2$ . Equivalently, these are subgroups of Iso  $\mathbb{H}^3_{\mathbb{R}}$  which actually are groups of isometries of the hyperbolic plane  $\mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ . These are called *Fuchsian groups*. In higher dimensions, this role is played by the so-called complex hyperbolic groups. These are, by definition, subgroups of  $\mathrm{PSL}(n+1,\mathbb{R})$  which act on  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ leaving invariant a certain open ball of complex dimension n, which serves as model for complex hyperbolic geometry. In the subsection below we speak a few words about this interesting subject. We will come back to it later.

## 2.3 Complex hyperbolic and complex affine groups

Let us describe first two specially important subgroups of  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$ : The group PU(n, 1) of holomorphic isometries of the complex hyperbolic space, and the complex affine group. We start with PU(n, 1).

Let us look at the subset  $[N_-]$  of  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  consisting of points whose homogeneous coordinates satisfy:

$$|z_1|^2 + \dots |z_n|^2 < |z_{n+1}|^2.$$
(2.2)

As noticed above, this set is an open ball  $\mathbb{B}$  of real dimension 2n and its boundary,

$$[N_0] := \{ (z_1 : \dots : z_{n+1}) \in \mathbb{CP}^n \mid |z_1|^2 + \dots |z_n|^2 = |z_{n+1}|^2 \},\$$

is a sphere of real dimension 2n-1. This set  $[N_{-}]$  is the usual starting point for complex hyperbolic geometry; for this one needs to introduce a metric, which is known as the Bergman metric. We shall do that in a way similar to the one we used for real hyperbolic space.

Let U(n) be the unitary group. By definition, its elements are the  $(n) \times (n)$  matrices which satisfy

$$\langle Uz, Uw \rangle = \langle z, w \rangle \,,$$

for all complex vectors  $z = (z_1..., z_n)$  and  $w = (w_1, ..., w_n)$ , where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is the usual hermitian product on  $\mathbb{C}^n$ :  $\langle z, w \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^n z_i \cdot \bar{w}_i$ . This is equivalent to saying that the columns of U form an orthonormal basis of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  with respect to the hermitian product.

We now let U(n, 1) be the subgroup of  $GL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  of transformations that preserve the quadratic form

$$Q(z_1, \cdots, z_{n+1}) = |z_1|^2 + \cdots |z_n|^2 - |z_{n+1}|^2.$$
(2.3)

In other words, an element  $U \in \operatorname{GL}(n+1,\mathbb{C})$  is in  $\operatorname{U}(n,1)$  if and only if Q(z) = Q(Uz)for all points in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$ . Let  $\operatorname{PU}(n,1)$  be its projectivization. Then the action of  $\operatorname{PU}(n,1)$ on  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  leaves invariant the set  $[N_-]$ . To see this, recall that a point in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  is in  $[N_-]$ if and only if its homogeneous coordinates satisfy equation (2.3). If  $(z_1 : \cdots : z_{n+1})$  is in  $[N_-]$  and  $\gamma$  is in  $\operatorname{PU}(n,1)$ , then the point  $\gamma(z_1 : \cdots : z_{n+1})$  is again in  $[N_-]$ . Therefore the group  $\operatorname{PU}(n,1)$  acts on the ball  $[N_-] \cong \mathbb{B}^{2n}$ .

Recall that to construct the real hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{R}}$  we considered the unit open ball  $\mathbb{B}^n$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ , and we looked at the action of the Möbius group  $\text{M\"ob}_+(\mathbb{B}^n)$  on this ball. This action was transitive with isotropy  $O(n, \mathbb{R})$ . So we can consider the usual metric at the space  $T_0(\mathbb{B}^n)$ , tangent to the ball at the origin, and spread it around using that the action is transitive; we get a well-defined metric on the ball using the fact that the isotropy  $O(n, \mathbb{R})$  preserves the usual metric.

Let us now do the analogous construction for the ball  $[N_{-}]$  using the action of PU(n, 1): It is an exercise to show that this action is transitive, with isotropy PU(n). Let P be the center of this ball,  $P := (0:0:\cdots:0:1)$ . We equip the tangent space  $T_P([N_{-}]) \cong \mathbb{C}^n$ with the usual hermitian metric, and spread this metric around  $[N_{-}]$  using the action of PU(n, 1). Since the isotropy PU(n) preserves the metric in  $T_P([N_{-}])$  we get a well-defined metric on the ball  $[N_{-}] \cong \mathbb{B}^{2n}$ . This is the Bergman metric on the ball  $[N_{-}]$ , which thus becomes a model for the complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{C}}$ , with PU(n, 1) as its group of holomorphic isometries. Its boundary  $[N_0]$  is the sphere at infinity  $\mathbb{S}^{2n-1}_{\infty}$ .

Since the action of PU(n, 1) on  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{C}}$  is by isometries, then one has (by general results of groups of transformations) that every discrete subgroup of PU(n, 1) acts discontinuously on  $\mathbb{H}^n_{\mathbb{C}}$ . Hence, regarded as a subgroup of PU(n + 1), such a group acts on  $\mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^n$  with non-empty region of discontinuity.

The subgroups of PU(n, 1) are usually known as *complex hyperbolic groups*, and from the previous discussion we deduce:

#### Every complex hyperbolic discrete group is a complex Kleinian group,

a statement that generalises to higher dimensions the well-known fact that every Fuchsian subgroup of  $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$  is Kleinian when regarded as a subgroup of  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$ .

Now we look at complex affine groups. For this we recall that there is another classical way of constructing the projective space, and this also plays a significant role for producing discrete subgroups of  $PSL(n+1, \mathbb{C})$ . This is by thinking of  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  as being the union of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ 

and the "hyperplane at infinity":

$$\mathbb{CP}^n = \mathbb{C}^n \cup \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}.$$

A way for doing so is by writing

$$\mathbb{C}^{n+1} = \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C} = \{ (Z, z_n) \mid Z = (z_1, ..., z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n \text{ and } z_n \in \mathbb{C} \}.$$

Then every point in the hyperplane  $\{(Z, 1)\}$  determines a unique line through the origin in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$ , *i.e.*, a point in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ ; and every point in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  is obtained in this way except for those corresponding to lines (or "directions") in the hyperplane  $\{(Z, 0)\}$ , which form the "hyperplane at infinity"  $\mathbb{CP}^{n-1}$ . It is clear that every affine map of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  leaves invariant the hyperplane at infinity  $\mathbb{CP}^{n-1}$ . Furthermore, every such map carries lines in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  into lines in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$ , so the map naturally extends to the hyperplane at infinity. This gives a natural inclusion of the affine group

$$\operatorname{Aff}(\mathbb{C}^n) \cong \operatorname{GL}(n,\mathbb{C}) \ltimes \mathbb{C}^n,$$

in the projective group  $PSL(n+1, \mathbb{C})$ .

In particular, if  $\Gamma$  is a discrete subgroup of  $\operatorname{Aff}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  which are isometries in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  with respect to the usual Hermitian metric, then they have a non-empty region of discontinuity in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ . We get:

#### Every discrete group of Euclidian isometries in $\mathbb{C}^n$ is complex Kleinian.

Yet, the problem of deciding whether or not an arbitrary discrete subgroup of  $\operatorname{Aff}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  is discrete in  $\operatorname{PSL}(n+1,\mathbb{C})$  can be rather subtle.

#### 2.4 The Kulkarni limit set and examples

In the first section of these notes we defined the limit set of a Kleinian group in the classical way, as the set of accumulation points of the orbits. This is indeed a good definition in that setting in all possible ways: its complement  $\Omega$  is the largest region of discontinuity for the action of the group on the sphere, and  $\Omega$  is also the region of equicontinuity of the group, *i.e.*, the set of points where the group forms a normal family.

It would be nice to have such a "universal" concept in the setting of complex Kleinian groups. Alas this is not possible in general and there is not a "correct" concept of limit set. As we will see, there can be several definitions of "limit set", each having its own interest, its own characteristics and leading to interesting results. Yet, one has that for complex dimension 2, "generically" the various natural possible definitions of a limit set coincide (see [9]). We do not know whether or not there is a similar statement in higher dimensions.

Indeed the question of giving "the definition" of limit set can be rather subtle, as pointed out by R. Kulkarni in the general setting of discrete group actions [22], and in [28] for the particular setting we envisage here. This is illustrated by the following example, taken from [24]. Let  $\gamma \in PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  be the projectivisation of the linear map  $\tilde{\gamma}$  given by:

$$\tilde{\gamma} = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} \alpha_1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \alpha_2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \alpha_3 \end{array}\right)$$

where  $\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 = 1$  and  $|\alpha_1| < |\alpha_2| < |\alpha_3$ . We denote by  $\Gamma$  the cyclic subgroup of PSL(3,  $\mathbb{C}$ ) generated by  $\gamma$ . Each  $\alpha_i$  corresponds to a 1-dimensional eigenspace in  $\mathbb{C}^3$ , hence to a fixed point of  $\gamma$  in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$ , that we denote by  $e_i$ . The point  $\{e_1\}$  is a repelling point while  $\{e_3\}$ is an attractor. The projective lines  $\overleftarrow{e_1, e_2}$  and  $\overleftarrow{e_2, e_3}$  are both invariant lines. The orbits of points in the line  $\overleftarrow{e_1, e_2}$  accumulate in  $e_1$  going backwards, and they accumulate in  $e_2$ going forwards. Similar considerations apply to the line  $\overleftarrow{e_2, e_3}$ . Thus  $e_2$  is a saddle point

The orbit of each point in  $\mathbb{CP}^2 \setminus (\overleftarrow{e_1, e_2} \cup \overleftarrow{e_2, e_3})$  accumulates at the points  $\{e_1, e_3\}$ , and it is not hard to see that  $\Gamma$  forms a normal family at all points in  $(\mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{C}} \cup \mathbb{S}^3_{\infty}) \setminus \{e_1, e_3\}$ . It is not hard to show that: one has (see [24] or [10, Chapter 3] for the proof):

- i.  $\Gamma$  acts discontinuously on  $\Omega_0 = \mathbb{CP}^2 (\overleftarrow{e_1, e_2} \cup \overleftarrow{e_3, e_2})$ , and also on  $\Omega_1 = \mathbb{CP}^2 (\overleftarrow{e_1, e_2} \cup \{e_3\})$  and  $\Omega_2 = \mathbb{CP}^2 (\overleftarrow{e_3, e_2} \cup \{e_1\})$ .
- ii.  $\Omega_1$  and  $\Omega_2$  are the maximal open sets where  $\Gamma$  acts properly discontinuously; and  $\Omega_1/\Gamma$  and  $\Omega_2/\Gamma$  are compact complex manifolds. (In fact they are Hopf manifolds).
- iii.  $\Omega_0$  is the largest open set where  $\Gamma$  forms a normal family.

It follows that even if the set of accumulation points of the orbits consists of the points  $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$ , in order to actually get a properly discontinuous action we must remove a larger set. Furthermore, in this example we see that there is not a largest region where the action is properly discontinuous, since neither  $\Omega_1$  nor  $\Omega_2$  is contained in the other.

So one has several candidates to be called as "limit set":

- The points  $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$  where all orbits accumulate. But the action is not properly discontinuous on all of its complement. Yet, this definition is good if we make this group conjugate to one in PU(1, 2) and we restrict the discussion to the "hyperbolic disc"  $\mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{C}}$  contained in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$ . This corresponds to taking the Chen-Greenberg limit set of  $\Gamma$ , that we shall define below.
- The two lines  $\overleftarrow{e_1, e_2}$ ,  $\overleftarrow{e_3, e_2}$ , which are attractive sets for the iterations of  $\gamma$  (in one case) or  $\gamma^{-1}$  (in the other case). This corresponds to Kulkarni's limit set of  $\Gamma$ , that we define below, and it has the nice property that the action on its complement is properly discontinuous and also, in this case, equicontinuous. And yet, the proposition above says that away from either one of these two lines the action of  $\Gamma$  is discontinuous. So this region is not "maximal".

- Then we may be tempted to taking as limit set the complement of the "maximal region of discontinuity", but there is no such region: there are two of them, the complements of each of the two invariant lines, so which one we choose?
- Similarly we may want to define the limit set as the complement of "the equicontinuity region". In this particular example, that definition may seem appropriate. The problem is that this would rule out important cases, as for instance the Hopf manifolds, which can not be written in the form U/G where G is a discrete subgroup of PSL(3, C) acting equicontinuously on an open set U of CP<sup>2</sup>. Moreover, there are examples where Γ is the fundamental group of certain compact complex surfaces (Inoue surfaces) and the action of Γ on CP<sup>2</sup> has no points of equicontinuity.

Thus one may have different definitions of the limit set, each having interesting properties. Yet, the following notion of limit set, introduced by Ravi Kulkarni in [22], does play a major role in the theory of complex Kleinian groups, and there is evidence that in complex dimension 2, this is the good concept to look at. This definition of a limit set applies in a very general setting of a discrete group G acting on a smooth manifold X, and it has the important property of assuring that complement of the limit set, is an open invariant set where the group acts properly discontinuously.

For this, recall that given a family  $\{A_{\beta}\}$  of subsets of X, where  $\beta$  runs over some infinite indexing set B, a point  $x \in X$  is a *cluster (or accumulation) point* of  $\{A_{\beta}\}$  if every neighbourhood of x intersects  $A_{\beta}$  for infinitely many  $\beta \in B$ .

Given a manifold X and a group G of discrete diffeomorphisms of X, let  $L_0(G)$  be the closure of the set of points in X with infinite isotropy group. Let  $L_1(G)$  be the closure of the set of cluster points of orbits of points in  $X - L_0(G)$ , *i.e.*, the cluster points of the family  $\{\gamma(x)\}_{\gamma \in G}$ , where x runs over  $X - L_0(G)$ .

Finally, let  $L_2(G)$  be the closure of the set of cluster points of  $\{\gamma(K)\}_{\gamma\in G}$ , where K runs over all the compact subsets of  $X - \{L_0(G) \cup L_1(G)\}$ . We have:

**Definition 2.4** i. Let X be as above and let G be a group of homeomorphisms of X. The Kulkarni limit set of G in X is the set

$$\Lambda_{\mathrm{Kul}}(G) := L_0(G) \cup L_1(G) \cup L_2(G).$$

ii. The Kulkarni region of discontinuity of G is

$$\Omega_{\mathrm{Kul}}(G) \subset X := X - \Lambda_{\mathrm{Kul}}(G).$$

It is easy to see that the set  $\Lambda_{\text{Kul}}(G)$  is closed in X and it is G-invariant (it can be empty). The set  $\Omega_{\text{Kul}}(G)$  (which also can be empty) is open, G-invariant, and G acts properly discontinuously on it.

When G is a Möbius (or conformal) group, the classical definitions of the *limit set* and the *discontinuity set* coincide with the above definitions.

For instance, in the example above, where G is generated by:

$$\tilde{\gamma} = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} \alpha_1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \alpha_2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \alpha_3 \end{array}\right)$$

with  $\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 = 1$  and  $|\alpha_1| < |\alpha_2| < |\alpha_3$ , one has that the sets  $L_0(G)$  and  $L_1(G)$  are equal, and they consist of the three points  $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$ , while  $L_2(G)$  consists of the lines  $\overleftarrow{e_1, e_2}$  and  $\overleftarrow{e_2, e_3}$ , passing through the saddle point. Hence  $\Lambda_{\text{Kul}}(G)$  consists of two projective lines.

$$\Lambda_{\mathrm{Kul}}(G) = \overleftarrow{e_1, e_2} \cup \overleftarrow{e_2, e_3}.$$

Let us give few other examples:

**Example 2.5** Now let G be the cyclic group generated by the projectivization of the map:

$$\tilde{\gamma} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \alpha^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, with |\alpha| \neq 1.$$

Then  $L_0 = L_1 = L_2$  is the union of the line  $\overleftarrow{e_1, e_2}$  and the point  $e_3$ . Hence  $\Lambda_{\text{Kul}}(G)$  is now:  $\Lambda_{\text{Kul}}(G) = \overleftarrow{e_1, e_2} \cup \{e_3\}.$ 

**Example 2.6** Consider now the cyclic group generated by the projectivization of the map:

$$\tilde{\gamma} = \left( \begin{array}{rrr} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{array} \right)$$

Then 1 is the only eigenvalue. Now we have  $L_0 = L_1 = \{e_1\}$  and  $L_2 = \overleftarrow{e_1, e_2}$ . Hence  $\Lambda_{\text{Kul}}(G)$  now consists of a single line:

$$\Lambda_{\mathrm{Kul}}(G) = \overleftarrow{e_1, e_2}$$

**Example 2.7** Now consider the group generated by the matrix 2.5 together with a new generator:

$$\widetilde{G} = \left\langle \left( \begin{array}{ccc} \alpha & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \alpha^{-1} \end{array} \right) , \left( \begin{array}{ccc} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{array} \right) , |\alpha| \neq 1 \right\rangle$$

It is easy to see that the second matrix permutes the invariant lines  $\overleftarrow{e_1, e_2}$ ,  $\overleftarrow{e_2, e_3}$  and  $\overleftarrow{e_3, e_1}$ . Hence one gets that  $\Lambda_{\text{Kul}}(G)$  is:

$$\Lambda_{\mathrm{Kul}}(G) = \overleftarrow{e_1, e_2} \cup \overleftarrow{e_2, e_3} \cup \overleftarrow{e_3, e_1}$$

One can further check (see [12]) that in this example, the quotient  $\Omega_{\text{Kul}}(G)/G$  is a compact orbifold which implies that this group is quasi-cocompact.

To finish this section, we recall that we know from [22] that if G is a discrete group in  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$ , then its action on the Kulkarni set  $\Omega_{Kul}(G)$  is properly discontinuous. Hence, if  $\Omega_{Kul}(G) \neq \emptyset$ , then G is complex Kleinian. Similarly, we know from [11] that the action of  $G \subset PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  on the equicontinuity set Eq(G) is properly discontinuous. Hence, if  $Eq(G) \neq \emptyset$ , then G is complex Kleinian. We state these claims as a theorem:

**Theorem 2.8** Let G be a discrete subgroup of  $G \subset PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  which satisfies either one (or both) of the following conditions (which are not always equivalent):

- Its Kulkarni region of discontinuity is non-empty,  $\Omega_{Kul}(G) \neq \emptyset$ ;
- Its equicontinuity region is non-empty,  $Eq(G) \neq \emptyset$ .

Then there is a non-empty open invariant set in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  where G acts properly discontinuously, and therefore G is complex Kleinian.

As noted above, this includes all discrete subgroups of complex hyperbolic isometries, as well as all discrete groups of isometries of  $\mathbb{C}^n$  with respect to the usual Hermitian metric.

## 3 ON THE CLASSIFICATION OF PROJECTIVE AUTOMORPHISMS

In a previous section we described the classification of the elements in  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C}) \cong$ Iso<sub>+</sub> $\mathbb{H}^3_{\mathbb{R}}$ , and also for groups of isometries in higher dimensional real hyperbolic spaces; we refer to M. Kapovich's excellent notes for more on that subject. This classification has been, and continuous to be, extended by various authors to the groups of isometries in different settings, as for instance by W. Goldman [16], J. Parker, K. Gongopadhyay and others (see [14], [13], [17], [19], [7]).

Here we briefly describe the classification of the elements in the projective group  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$ . We start by recalling in more detail, the classical case, presenting it in a way that paves the way for the generalizations that we describe in higher dimensions, which are essentially taken from the work of J. P. Navarrete [25], for the case n = 2, and by A. Cano and L. Loeza [8] in higher dimensions.

### 3.1 The classical case

Recall that  $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$  can be regarded as being the group of isometries of the real hyperbolic plane  $\mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$  and its elements are classified into three types: elliptic, parabolic and loxodromic depending on the number and position of the fixed points: An element  $\gamma \in PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$  is elliptic if it has two fixed point in the extended complex plane  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$  and

these two points are conjugate (so  $\gamma$  has one fixed point in the interior of the hyperbolic plane);  $\gamma$  is parabolic if it has only one fixed point, and it is hyperbolic (or loxodromic) if it has two fixed point contained in the extended real line  $\widehat{\mathbb{R}}$ .

Recall that this classification can be given in terms of the trace of  $\gamma$ , and this extends to the elements in  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  as follows: Let  $\gamma \in PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  be represented by a matrix:

$$\tilde{\gamma} = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$$
,  $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{C}$ ,

with determinant ad - bc = 1. Define the trace of  $\gamma$  by  $Tr(\gamma) = a + d$ . Then:

**Characterization 1** The transformation  $\gamma$  is:

- *i.* Elliptic if its trace is a real number and  $\operatorname{Tr}(\gamma)^2 < 4$ ;
- ii. Parabolic if  $\operatorname{Tr}(\gamma)^2 = 4$ ;
- iii. Loxodromic if  $\operatorname{Tr}(\gamma)^2 \notin [0, 4]$ . If  $\gamma$  is loxodromic and  $\operatorname{Tr}(\gamma)$  is real, then  $\gamma$  is said to be hyperbolic.

We remark that there are several other equivalent ways of describing this classification, as for instance:

- i) By their normal forms and the eigenvalues;
- ii) By their fixed points and their local dynamics at the fixed points;
- iii) By their limit set.

Let us recall these classifications. For this notice that every matrix  $\tilde{\gamma}$  in  $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$  is congugate to a matrix of one of the following types:

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \text{ or } \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, \, \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \,,$$

depending on whether or not it is diagonalizable.

In the first case  $\gamma$  is parabolic, and in the second case it is either loxodromic or elliptic depending on the number  $\lambda$ , which is called the multiplier of  $\gamma$ . The map is elliptic if and only if its multiplier has norm 1, *i.e.*  $|\lambda| = 1$ ; otherwise the map is loxodromic.

In short,

#### **Characterization 2** The transformation $\gamma$ is:

- i. Parabolic if every lifting to  $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$  is non-diagonalizable, and in that case its eigenvalues have both norm 1.
- *ii.* Elliptic if it has a lifting which is diagonalizable with eigenvalues of norm 1.
- iii. Loxodromic if it has a lifting which is diagonalizable with at least one eigenvalue of  $norm \neq 1$ .

It follows that  $\gamma$  is parabolic if and only if it has exactly one fixed point in the projective line  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ . In this case, up to conjugation, we can assume that the fixed points is  $\infty$  in the extended complex plane  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \cong \mathbb{CP}^1$ , or the North pole in the Riemann sphere. Then the map is just a translation.

All non-parabolic transformations have two fixed points, which up to conjugation can be assumed to be the points  $0, \infty$  in the extended complex plane  $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} \cong \mathbb{CP}^1$ , or else the South and North poles in the Riemann sphere. If the eigenvalues have both norm 1, then the map is a rotation, either by a rational angle, if  $\gamma$  has finite order, or by an irrational angle.

If  $\gamma$  is loxodromic then one eigenvalue, say  $\lambda^+$ , has norm greater than 1, and the other, say  $\lambda^+$ , has norm smaller than 1, because their product is 1. Then  $\lambda^+$  determines an attractive fixed point  $x_+$  in  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  and  $\lambda^-$  determines a repelling fixed point  $x_-$ . In fact, for all  $x \in \mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus x_-$  one has that the sequence of iterates  $\{\gamma_n(x)\}$  converges to  $x_+$ , while the sequence  $\{\gamma_n^{-1}(x)\}$  converges to  $x_-$  for all  $x \neq x_+$ .

In short:

#### **Characterization 3** The transformation $\gamma$ is:

- *i.* Parabolic if it has only one fixed point in  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ ;
- ii. Elliptic if it has two fixed points in  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  and around each fixed point  $\gamma$  is conjugate to a rotation.
- iii. Loxodromic if it has two fixed points in  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ , one of these being an attractor and the other a repelling point.

We observe that if  $\gamma$  is parabolic, say given by  $z \mapsto z + 1$ , then  $\gamma$  leaves invariant the point  $\infty$  as well as all the lines in  $\mathbb{C}$  parallel to the real axis. In  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  these lines become circles passing through  $\infty$ . if  $\gamma$  is elliptic, say a rotation around the origin in  $\mathbb{C}$ , then it leaves invariant all the circles centered at 0. And if  $\gamma$  is loxodromic, say with an attractive point at 0, then for every open disc D in around the origin we have  $\gamma(\overline{D}) \subset D$ , where  $\overline{D}$  is its closure. That is,  $\Gamma$  is a contraction in D. We have:

#### **Characterization 4** The transformation $\gamma$ is:

- *i.* Parabolic if it leaves invariant a family of circles in  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  which pass through a given point p and determine a foliation of  $\mathbb{CP}^1 \setminus p$ ;
- ii. Elliptic if it leaves invariant a family of circles that define a foliation of  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  minus two points;
- iii. Loxodromic if there exists an open set  $U \subset \mathbb{CP}^1$  such that  $\gamma(\overline{U}) \subset U$ ).

Finally we can give also a dynamical classification of these transformations. Notice that if  $\gamma$  is an elliptic element of finite order, then its limit set  $\Lambda(\langle \gamma \rangle)$  is empty. And if  $\gamma$ is elliptic element with infinite order, then every point in  $\mathbb{CP}^1_{\mathbb{C}}$  is an accumulation point of some orbit, so the limit set is everything:  $\Lambda(\langle \gamma \rangle) = \mathbb{CP}^1$ .

If  $\gamma$  is parabolic, then its limit set consists of its fixed point, and if  $\gamma$  is loxodromic, then it consists of its two fixed points. Hence we have:

**Characterization 5** The transformation  $\gamma$  is:

- *i.* Parabolic if its limit set in  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  consists of one point;
- ii. Loxodromic if its limit set consists of two points;
- iii. Elliptic if its limit set is either empty or the whole  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ .

### **3.2** Classification of the elements in $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$

It is natural to expect that for the elements in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  one should have classifications of its elements in the vein of those given by the characterizations 1 to 4 above for the elements in  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$ . This is indeed so, and that is the work started by Juan Pablo Navarrete in [25] (see also [10, Chapter 5]), and refined in [8]. Of course that the starting point is Goldman's classification of the elements in  $PU(2, 1) \subset PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ . These are the elements in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  that preserve the ball  $\mathbb{B}^4$  in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  of points whose homogeneous coordinates  $(z_1 : z_2 : z_3)$  satisfy:

$$|z_1|^2 + |z_2|^2 < |z_3|^2$$
.

The boundary  $\partial \mathbb{B}^4$  is a 3-sphere. Then, an element  $g \in PU(2,1)$  is said to be *elliptic* if it has a fixed point inside  $\mathbb{B}^4$ , *parabolic* if it has exactly one fixed point in  $\partial \mathbb{B}^4$ , and *loxodromic* if it has two fixed points in  $\partial \mathbb{B}^4$ . I fact this same classification extends to higher dimensions, for the elements in PU(n, 1). The only difference is that for n = 2 Goldman also gives a classification in terms of the trace.

This classification has been extended to real, complex and quaternionic hyperbolic spaces of "low dimensions" by various authors, as for instance Parker, Gongopadhyay and several others (see for instance [14], Cao-Go, Gongo, Gongo-Parsad, Gongo-Par-Par).

In fact the trichotomy of classifying the elements as elliptic, parabolic or loxodromic, extends to the group of isometries of all Gromov-hyperbolic spaces of negative curvature, though the classification is in a different vein (see for instance [7]). Notice however that the projective space  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  is not Gromov-hyperbolic, neither it has a metric which is invariant under the action of  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$ . And yet, we will see that the partition into elliptic, parabolic and loxodromic elements extends naturally to  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$ , with one significant difference between the cases n = 2 and n > 2: In the first case one also has the classification in terms of the trace, and we do not know yet how to extend this to higher dimensions.

We consider first the case of  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ , following [25] and [8] (see also [10]). Let g be an element in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  and consider all its iterates  $g^n := g \circ g^{n-1}$ , for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  (with  $g_1 := g, g_0 := Id$  and  $g^{-n} := (g^{-1})^n$ ). In other words, we are considering the cyclic group generated by g, that we denote by  $\langle g \rangle$ . The element g is represented by a matrix  $\tilde{g}$  in  $GL(3, \mathbb{C})$ , unique up to multiplication by non-zero complex numbers.

Such a matrix  $\tilde{g}$  has three eigenvalues, say  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3$ , which may or may not be equal, and if they are distinct, they may or may not have equal norms: These facts make big differences in their geometry and dynamics, as we will see in the sequel. These, together with the corresponding Jordan canonical form of  $\tilde{g}$ , yield to the geometric and dynamical characterisations of the elements in PSL(3,  $\mathbb{C}$ ) that we give in this section. Similar considerations can be used also in higher dimensions, as we explain in the following section. Yet, in the case of PSL(3,  $\mathbb{C}$ ) there is also an algebraic classification in terms of the trace.

Coming back to our considerations in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ , notice also that what really matters are the ratios amongst the  $\lambda_i$ , since multiplication of a matrix by a scalar, multiplies all its eigenvalues by that same scalar. Recall also that each eigenvalue determines a one dimensional space of eigenvectors in  $\mathbb{C}^3$ , so its projectivisation fixes the corresponding point in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$ . Distinct eigenvalues give rise to distinct fixed points in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$ . Also, every two points in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  determine a unique projective line; if the two points are fixed by g, then the corresponding line is g-invariant.

Let us use this information to have a closer look of the dynamics of g by considering a lifting  $\tilde{g} \in SL(3, \mathbb{C})$  and looking at its Jordan canonical form. One can check that this must be of one of the following three types:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_3 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ where } \lambda_3 = (\lambda_1 \lambda_2)^{-1}.$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_3 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ where } \lambda_3 = (\lambda_1)^{-2}.$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

**Definition 3.1** Consider an element  $g \in PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ . Then:

- i. g is *elliptic* if has a lifting to  $SL(3, \mathbb{C})$  which is diagonalizable with unitary eigenvalues.
- ii. g is parabolic if has a lifting to  $SL(3, \mathbb{C})$  which is non-diagonalizable with unitary eigenvalues.
- iii. g is *loxodromic* if has a lifting to  $SL(3, \mathbb{C})$  which has at least one eigenvalue which is not unitary.

Let us see what happens in each case. In the first case, when the lifting is diagonalizable, the images of  $e_1, e_2, e_3$  are fixed by the corresponding map in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$ ; for simplicity we denote the corresponding images by the same letters (to avoid having too many brackets  $[e_i]$ ). One also has at least three invariant projective lines in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$ :  $\mathcal{L}_1 := \overleftarrow{e_1, e_2}, \mathcal{L}_2 : \overleftarrow{e_2, e_3}$ and  $\mathcal{L}_3 := \overleftarrow{e_1, e_3}$ .

Up to re-numbering the eigenvalues, there are three essentially different possibilities (though a closer look at them shows that there are actually certain subcases):

- i)  $|\lambda_1| < |\lambda_2| < |\lambda_3|.$
- ii)  $|\lambda_1| = |\lambda_2| < |\lambda_3|$  (could be  $|\lambda_1| < |\lambda_2| = |\lambda_3|$ , but this is similar).

iii) 
$$|\lambda_1| = |\lambda_2| = |\lambda_3| = 1$$

In case the point  $e_1$  is repelling,  $e_2$  is a saddle and  $e_3$  is an attractor. Notice that the restriction of g to each of the three lines  $\mathcal{L}_i$  is a loxodromic transformation in the group of automorphisms of this line, that we can identify with  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$ : it has two fixed points in the line, one is repelling and the other is attracting.

Each point in  $\mathcal{L}_1$  determines a unique projective line passing through that point and  $e_3$ , and the union of all these lines fills up the whole space  $\mathbb{CP}^2$ . In other words, the points in  $\mathcal{L}_1$  parameterise the pencil  $\{\mathcal{L}_y\}_{e_3}$  of projective lines in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  passing through  $e_3$ . Since the line  $\mathcal{L}_1$  is g-invariant, and  $e_3$  is a fixed point of g, it follows that each element in this pencil is carried by g into another element of the pencil. Furthermore, we can say that this is happening in a "loxodromic" way in the following sense: if we start with a point x in one of these lines, then the g-orbit of x will travel from line to line, converging towards  $e_3$  under the iterates of g, and getting closer and closer to the line  $\mathcal{L}_1$  under the iterates of  $g^{-1}$ , thus converging to a fixed point in this line. This kind of transformations will correspond to the so called subclass of **strongly-loxodromic** elements in [25, 10].

Notice that in this case, since  $e_3$  is an attracting fix point, we can choose a small enough "round ball" U containing  $e_3$  such that  $g(\overline{U}) \subset U$ . This is relevant because that is a property which characterises loxodromic elements (see ??).

Now consider the case

$$|\lambda_1| = |\lambda_2| < |\lambda_3|,$$

with the matrix still being diagonal. We can assume  $|\lambda_1| = 1$ . As before, the three points  $e_i$  are fixed points, the three lines are g-invariant and g carries elements in the pencil  $\{\mathcal{L}_y\}_{e_3}$  into elements of this same pencil in a "loxodromic" way, as in the previous case,

since the eigenvalue  $\lambda_3$  has larger norm. The difference with the previous case is that the restriction of g to the invariant line  $\mathcal{L}_1$  is now elliptic, not loxodromic. Hence the orbits of points in  $\mathcal{L}_1$ , others than the two fixed points  $e_1, e_2$ , move rotating along circles. All other points approach  $e_3$  when travelling forwards, doing "spirals", and they approach the line  $\mathcal{L}_1$  when moving backwards. These transformations are therefore called **screws**, and they are also loxodromic as elements in PSL(3,  $\mathbb{C}$ ).

When  $|\lambda_1| = |\lambda_2| = |\lambda_3| = 1$  the situation is quite different. Now the restriction of g to each of the three lines  $\mathcal{L}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{L}_2$  and  $\mathcal{L}_3$  is an elliptic transformation, and g carries the elements of the pencil into elements of the pencil in an "elliptic way", that we will make precise. Notice one has in this case that

$$T^{(1)}(r) = \{ [z_1 : z_2 : z_3] \in P^2_{\mathbb{C}} : |z_2|^2 + |z_3|^2 = r|z_1|^2 \}, \quad r > 0,$$
(3.2)

is a family of 3-spheres, each of these being invariant under the action of g. These transformations are **elliptic**.

Let us envisage now the second case considered above, that is matrices of the form:

$$\left(\begin{array}{ccc}\lambda_1 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & \lambda_1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_3\end{array}\right)$$

with  $\lambda_3 = (\lambda_1)^{-2}$ . Notice that the top Jordan block determines a projective line  $\mathcal{L}_1$  on which the transformation is parabolic. As a Möbius transformation in  $\mathcal{L}_1$  this map is:

$$z \mapsto z + \frac{1}{\lambda_1}$$
.

So the map in  $\mathcal{L}_1$  is parabolic. Now observe that the points  $e_1$  and  $e_3$  are the only fixed points of g. As before, we have the invariant pencil  $\{\mathcal{L}_y\}_{e_1}$ . Notice there are two cases:  $|\lambda_1| = 1$  or  $|\lambda_1| \neq 1$ . In the first case, g carries each element in the pencil into another element in the pencil in an "elliptic way". One can show too that in this case there is a family of 3-spheres in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  which are invariant by g and they all meet at the point  $e_3$ . These type of maps belong to the class of **parabolic elements** in PSL(3,  $\mathbb{C}$ ), and they belong to the sub-class of **ellipto-parabolic** transformations.

If we now take  $|\lambda_1| \neq 1$ , then the dynamics in  $\mathcal{L}_1$  is as before, but away from this invariant line the dynamics is dominated by the eigenvalue  $\lambda_3$ . If we assume  $|\lambda_1| > 1$ , then all points in  $\mathbb{CP}^2 \setminus \mathcal{L}_1$  escape towards  $e_3$  when moving forwards, and they accumulate in the line  $\mathcal{L}_1$  when moving backwards. If  $|\lambda_1| < 1$  the dynamics just reverses and the backwards orbits accumulate at  $e_3$ . These maps are **loxodromic elements**, of the type called **loxo-parabolic**.

Finally consider the case:

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{array}\right)$$

Now one has that all eigenvalues are equal to 1. There is only one fixed point,  $e_1$ , and an invariant line,  $\mathcal{L}_1 := \overleftarrow{e_1, e_2}$ , in which the transformation is parabolic. Moreover, one has in this case the following family of g-invariant 3-spheres, which are all tangent to the line  $\mathcal{L}_1$  at the point  $e_1$ 

$$T_r = \{ [z_1 : z_2 : z_3] \mid |z_2|^2 + r|z_3|^2 - (\overline{z_1}z_3 + z_1\overline{z_3}) - \frac{1}{2}(\overline{z_2}z_3 + z_2\overline{z_3}) = 0 \}, r \in \mathbb{R}.$$

These maps are all **parabolic**, of the type called **unipotent**.

Now we give several characterizations of each of the three types of transformations one has in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ , generalizing those described above for the elements in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ . For this we consider the complex polynomial,

$$F(x,y) = x^2 y^2 - 4(x^3 + y^3) + 18xy - 27,$$

which extends the complex polynomial used by Goldman in [16] to classify the elements in PU(2, 1) by the trace.

Let g be an element in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ ,  $\hat{g}$  a lifting to  $SL(3, \mathbb{C})$ , and denote by  $\tau(g)$  the trace of  $\hat{g}$ , which is invariant under conjugation.

The following theorems are essentially contained in [25], with some refinements coming from [8]. We begin with an algebraic characterization in terms of the trace. We denote by  $C_3$  the cubic roots of unity.

**Theorem 3.3** The transformation g is:

- i) Elliptic if and only if  $\overline{\tau(g)} = \tau(g^{-1})$  and  $F(\tau(g), \overline{\tau(g)}) < 0$ , or else  $\widehat{g}$  is diagonalizable,  $\tau(g) \notin 3C_3$ ,  $\overline{\tau(g)} = \tau(g^{-1})$  and  $F(\tau(g), \overline{\tau(g)}) = 0$ .
- iii) Parabolic if and only if  $\overline{\tau(g)} = \tau(g^{-1})$  and either  $\tau(g) \in 3C_3$  and  $\hat{g}$  is not the identity element, or else  $\hat{g}$  is not diagonalizable and  $F(\tau(g), \overline{\tau(g)}) = 0, \tau(g) \notin 3C_3$ .
- ii) Loxodromic if and only if  $\overline{\tau(g)} \neq \tau(g^{-1})$  or  $\overline{\tau(g)} = \tau(g^{-1})$  and  $F(\tau(g), \overline{\tau(g)}) > 0$ .

For instance, the following matrices have the same trace, but the first of these is parabolic (of the type called ellipto-parabolic):

$$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} e^{i\theta} & 1 & 0\\ 0 & e^{i\theta} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & e^{-2i\theta} \end{array}\right)$$

while the following element is elliptic:

$$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} e^{i\theta} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & e^{i\theta} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & e^{-2i\theta} \end{array}\right)$$

The next three theorems give, respectively, four different characterizations of each type of transformations: elliptic, parabolic and loxodromic. The first three of these characterizations in each of these theorems comes from [25], while the fourth characterization comes from [8].

**Theorem 3.4** The transformation  $g \in PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  is elliptic if and only if one of the following conditions is satisfied:

- i. There is family of g-invariant spheres in CP<sup>2</sup>, conjugate to those given in equation (3.2), which determine a foliation of C<sup>2</sup> \{0}, where we are thinking of CP<sup>2</sup> as being the compactification of C<sup>2</sup> obtained by attaching to it the line at ∞.
- ii. The set of accumulation points of the  $\langle g \rangle$ -orbits of points in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  is either empty or the whole space  $\mathbb{CP}^2$ .
- iii. The equicontinuity set of  $\langle g \rangle$  is all of  $\mathbb{CP}^2$ .
- iv. For each pair of fixed points  $x, y \in \mathbb{CP}^2$ , the restriction of g to the invariant line  $\overleftarrow{x, y} \cong \mathbb{CP}^1$  is an elliptic element in  $\mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{C})$ .

**Theorem 3.5** The transformation  $g \in PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  is parabolic if and only if one of the following conditions is satisfied:

- i. There is a g-invariant projective line  $\mathcal{L} \subset \mathbb{CP}^2$  and a family of g-invariant 3-spheres in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$ , tangent to  $\mathcal{L}$  at a point p which is fixed by g, such that the set  $\overline{\bigcup \mathcal{F}}$  is a closed round ball. (Here, a round ball means the image by an element in PSL(3,  $\mathbb{C}$ ) of the ball consisting of points in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  whose homogeneous coordinates satisfy  $|z_1|^2 + |z_2|^2 < |z_3|^2$ .)
- ii. The set of accumulation points of the  $\langle g \rangle$ -orbits of points in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  is a single point or a single projective line, and in either case the Kulkarni limit set  $\Lambda_{\text{Kul}}(\langle g \rangle)$  is a projective line.
- iii. The equicontinuity set  $Eq(\langle g \rangle)$  is the complement of a projective line, and in this case  $Eq(\langle g \rangle)$  coincides with the Kulkarni region of discontinuity  $\Omega_{Kul}(\langle g \rangle)$ .
- iv. There is only one invariant line and the restriction of g to this line is a parabolic element in  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$ .

**Theorem 3.6** The transformation  $g \in PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  is loxodromic if and only if one of the following conditions is satisfied:

i. There is an open set  $U \subset \mathbb{CP}^2$  such that  $g(\overline{U}) \subset U$ .

- ii. The set of accumulation points of the  $\langle g \rangle$ -orbits of points in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  is a union of either two projective lines or a projective line and a point, and these two spaces form the Kulkarni limit set  $\Lambda_{\text{Kul}}(\langle g \rangle)$ .
- iii. The equicontinuity set  $Eq(\langle g \rangle)$  is the complement of two projective subspaces, and in this case  $Eq(\langle g \rangle)$  coincides with the Kulkarni region of discontinuity  $\Omega_{Kul}(\langle g \rangle)$ .
- iv. There exist two distinct fixed points  $x, y \in \mathbb{CP}^2$  such that the restriction of g to the invariant line  $\overleftarrow{x, y} \cong \mathbb{CP}^1$  is a loxodromic element in  $\mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{C})$ .

We remark that every elliptic and every parabolic element in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  is conjugate to, respectively, an elliptic or a parabolic element in PU(2, 1). Also, every loxodromic element in PU(2, 1) is loxodromic in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ , but not conversely: the loxodromic elements in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  which are of the types called "screws" or "homotheties", and also some "strongly-loxodromic" elements, are not conjugate to elements in PU(2, 1) (see [25, 10]).

As we explain below, in higher dimensions, every elliptic element in  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  is conjugate to an elliptic element in PU(n, 1), but this is not so regarding the parabolic and loxodromic elements.

## **3.3** Classification of the elements in $PSL(n+1, \mathbb{C})$

We now discuss the classification in [8] of the elements in  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$ . We start with the definition.

**Definition 3.7** Consider an element  $g \in PSL(n+1, \mathbb{C})$ . Then:

- i. g is *elliptic* if it has a lifting to  $SL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  which is diagonalizable with unitary eigenvalues.
- ii. g is parabolic if it has a lifting to  $SL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  which is non-diagonalizable with unitary eigenvalues.
- iii. g is *loxodromic* if it has a lifting to  $SL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  which has at least one eigenvalue which is not unitary.

The above classification theorems for the elements in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  extend with almost no changes to higher dimensions in the cases of elliptic and loxodromic elements. One has:

**Theorem 3.8** The transformation  $g \in PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  is elliptic if and only if one of the following equivalent conditions is satisfied:

*i.* Up to conjugation, it leaves invariant each leaf of a foliation of  $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus \{0\}$  by concentric (2n-1)-spheres, where  $\mathbb{C}^n$  is being regarded as  $\mathbb{C}^n \cong \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^n \setminus \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^{n-1}$ .

- ii. The set of accumulation points of the  $\langle g \rangle$ -orbits of points in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  is either empty or the whole space  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ .
- iii. The equicontinuity set of  $\langle g \rangle$  is all of  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ .
- iv. Each lifting to  $SL(n+1, \mathbb{C})$  is diagonalizable and for each pair  $x, y \in \mathbb{CP}^n$  of distinct fixed points, the restriction of g to the invariant line  $\overleftarrow{x, y} \cong \mathbb{CP}^1$  is an elliptic element in  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$ .

**Theorem 3.9** The transformation  $g \in PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  is loxodromic if and only if one of the following conditions is satisfied:

- *i.* There is an open set  $U \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$  such that  $g(\overline{U}) \subset U$ .
- ii. The set of accumulation points of the  $\langle g \rangle$ -orbits of points in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  is a union of two disjoint projective subspaces of dimensions < n.
- iii. The equicontinuity set  $Eq(\langle g \rangle)$  is the complement of two projective subspaces of dimensions < n.
- iv. The Kulkarni limit set  $\Lambda(\langle r \rangle)$  is the complement of a union of two projective subspaces of dimensions < n.
- v. There exist two distinct fixed points  $x, y \in \mathbb{CP}^n$  such that the restriction of g to the invariant line  $\overleftarrow{x, y} \cong \mathbb{CP}^1$  is a loxodromic element in  $\mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{C})$ .

To state the equivalent classification theorem for parabolic elements we need to introduce some notation. Recall that in the  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ -case, the 3-spheres used to characterize the parabolic elements are all equivalent to the sphere in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  defined by the quadratic form

$$Q(z_1, z_2, z_3) = |z_1|^2 + |z_2|^2 - |z_3|^2 = 0$$

which corresponds to a bilinear form of signature (2, 1). The null vectors in  $\mathbb{C}^3$  for this quadratic form are a complex cone over a 3-sphere  $\mathbb{S}^3$ , whose projectivization is the boundary  $\partial \mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{C}}$  in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  of a ball that serves as model for the complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

We know from the previous discussion that a parabolic element in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  is by definition an element that has a fixed point p, a unique invariant line  $\ell$  containing p, and it leaves invariant a family of spheres  $\{S_r\}$ , each being a copy of  $\partial \mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{C}}$  by an element in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ , which are all tangent to  $\ell$  at p. The union of all these spheres is the image of  $\mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{C}}$  by an element in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ , where  $\mathbb{H}^2_{\mathbb{C}}$  is the 4-ball in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  of points that correspond to negative vectors for the quadratic form Q.

Furthermore, we know also that every parabolic element in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  is conjugate to a parabolic element in PU(2, 1) and these are, by definition, the projective transformations that leave invariant the ball:

$$\{(z_1: z_2: z_3) \in \mathbb{CP}^2 \mid |z_1|^2 + |z_2|^2 < |z_3|^2\},\$$

and have a unique fixed point in the boundary of this ball.

Recall that in (3.7) we defined an element in  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  to be parabolic if it has a non-diagonalizable lifting to  $SL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  whose eigenvalues are all unitary. Even so, it is natural to ask the following question:

**Question 3.10** What ought to be a parabolic element in  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$ ?

Of course that parabolic elements in PU(n, 1) must be parabolic in  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$ ; the question is: are there any other parabolics in this latter group? This is answered in [8]. For this we must consider bilinear forms of signature (k, l) for all possible positive integers k, l such that k + l = n + 1. The corresponding groups are the projectivized Lorentz groups  $PU(k, l) \subset PSL(k + l)$ . That is, we denote by  $\mathbb{C}^{k,l}$  the complex vector space  $\mathbb{C}^{k+l}$  equipped with the Hermitian form:

$$\prec u, v \succ_{k,l} := u_1 \bar{v}_1 + \dots + u_k \bar{v}_k - u_{k+1} \bar{v}_{k+1} - \dots - u_{k+l} \bar{v}_{k+l}.$$

Let  $\mathbb{S}_{k,l}$  be the projectivization of the set of null vectors for this Hermitian form, *i.e.*, these are the points in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  whose homogeneous coordinates  $(u_1 : \cdots : u_{n+1l})$  satisfy:

$$|u_1|^2 + \dots + |u_k|^2 = |u_{k+1}|^2 + \dots + |u_{n+1}|^2.$$

We call  $S_{k,l}$  a (k, l)-projective sphere. In fact we call a (k, l)-sphere the images of  $S_{k,l}$  under the elements in PSL(n+1).

Notice that (n, 1)-spheres are usual (2n - 1)-spheres while a (k, l)-sphere in general is the projectivization of a product of spheres  $\mathbb{S}^{2k-1} \times \mathbb{S}^{2l-1}$ , diffeomorphic to a quotient  $(\mathbb{S}^{2k-1} \times \mathbb{S}^{2l-1})/\mathbb{S}^1$ .

Similarly, by a (k, l)-ball  $\mathbb{B}_{k,l}$  we mean the image under an element in  $PSL(n + l, \mathbb{C})$  of the projectivization of the set  $\mathbb{H}^{k,l}_{\mathbb{C}}$  of negative vectors for the corresponding quadratic form, *i.e.*, the points whose homogeneous coordinates satisfy:

$$|u_1|^2 + \dots + |u_k|^2 < |u_{k+1}|^2 + \dots + |u_{n+1}|^2.$$

Notice that the boundary of (k, l)-ball is a (k, l)-sphere.

Now we can define:

**Definition 3.11** Let g be an element in some group PU(k, l) with  $1 \le l \le k$ . Then:

- i. g is (k, l)-elliptic if it has at least one fixed point in the (k, l)-ball  $\mathbb{H}^{k,l}_{\mathbb{C}}$ .
- ii. g is (k, l)-loxodromic if its fixed points in  $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^{k,l}_{\mathbb{C}}$  are all in the (k, l)-sphere  $\partial \mathbb{H}^{k,l}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and there exist at least two such points x, y such that the action of g on the invariant line  $\overleftarrow{x, y}$  is loxodromic.

iii. g is (k, l)-parabolic if its fixed points in  $\overline{\mathbb{H}}^{k,l}_{\mathbb{C}}$  are all in  $\partial \mathbb{H}^{k,l}_{\mathbb{C}}$  and for each pair of two such points x, y, the action of g on the invariant line  $\overline{x, y}$  is elliptic.

It is proved in [8] that these three types of transformations determine a partition of PU(k, l), and this coincides with the classical definition in the case of PU(2, 1). Moreover we have:

**Theorem 3.12** The elliptic, loxodromic and parabolic elements in PU(k, l) are elliptic, loxodromic and parabolic in  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$ , respectively. Furthermore, a transformation  $g \in PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  is parabolic if and only if one of the following conditions is satisfied:

- *i.* The set of accumulation points of the  $\langle g \rangle$ -orbits of points in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  is a single projective space of dimension < n.
- ii. There exist positive integers k, l with k+l = n+1 such that g is parabolic in PU(k, l).
- iii. The equicontinuity set  $Eq(\langle g \rangle)$  and the Kulkarni region of discontinuity  $\Omega_{Kul}(\langle g \rangle)$ are the complement of a single projective subspace of  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ .

One also has:

**Proposition 3.13** If g is parabolic, then there exist a family  $\{S_{\alpha}\}$  of g-invariant (k, l)-spheres and a g-invariant proper projective subspace  $\mathcal{Z} \subsetneq \mathbb{CP}^n$ , such that:

- The fixed points of g are all contained in the Hermitian orthogonal complement of Z (for the corresponding quadratic form), i.e., Fix(g) ⊂ Z<sup>⊥</sup>.
- The intersection of every two distinct elements in the family  $\{S_{\alpha}\}$  is contained in  $\mathcal{Z}^{\perp}$ ; and
- The union of all  $\{S_{\alpha} \setminus Z^{\perp}\}$  fills out the whole space  $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus Z^{\perp}$ .

**Remark 3.14** It is worth saying that an element  $g \in PSL(n+1, \mathbb{C})$  is elliptic if and only if there exists some pair (k, l) with  $1 \le k \le n$  and k + l = n + 1, such that g has a fixed point inside the (k, l)-ball, and this implies that for each pair (k, l) with  $1 \le k \le n$  and k + l = n + 1 one has that g has a fixed point inside the (k, l)-ball.

## 4 THE KULKARNI LIMIT SET IN DIMENSION 2

Recall that for discrete subgroups of  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  we know that the limit set is a closed invariant set in  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  which consists of 1 point, two points or else it has infinite cardinality. There is also an interesting theorem stating that given any closed subset  $\mathbb{C} \subset \mathbb{CP}^1$ , there exists a Kleinian subgroup  $\Gamma \subset PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  whose limit set contains C. Philosophically this means that the limit set can be as rich and complicated as we wish. The idea to show this theorem is to start by considering a finite number of points in C; for each of these points we consider a small circle centered at the point, so that all these circles are pairwise disjoint, and then we look at the group generated by the inversions in these circles. This is Schottky group in  $\Gamma \subset PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  and its limit set contains the chosen points. Now we take more points in C and repeat the process, and so on. In the limit we arrive to a discrete subgroup of  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  whose limit set contains C.

In this section we shall make similar considerations for the Kulkarni limit set  $\Lambda_{Kul}$  of discrete subgroups of PSL(3,  $\mathbb{C}$ ).

Recall that in the previous section we gave examples of groups in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  where the limit set  $\Lambda_{Kul}$  consists of:

- One line;
- one line and one point;
- two lines;
- three lines;

Before we move forward, let us give a construction that originates in [26] and was later refined and extended in [24, 12]: The suspension construction. We start with a discrete group  $\Gamma \subset PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$  and look at its inverse image  $\widetilde{\Gamma} \subset SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ . Now take the natural inclusion of  $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$  in  $SL(3, \mathbb{C})$ , which is given by:

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ c & d \end{array}\right) \mapsto \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b & 0 \\ c & d & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{array}\right) \ .$$

This gives a subgroup  $\widetilde{\Gamma} \subset PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  with a fixed point at  $e_3$  and an invariant line  $\overleftarrow{e_1, e_2} \cong \mathbb{CP}^1$ . It is then an exercise to show that the Kulkarni limit set of  $\widetilde{\Gamma}$  is the union of all the complex lines passing through  $e_3$  and a point in the limit set  $\Lambda(\Gamma) \subset \overleftarrow{e_1, e_2}$ . Hence, if the limit set  $\Lambda(\Gamma)$  is not all of  $\overleftarrow{e_1, e_2}$ , then  $\widetilde{\Gamma}$  has non-empty region of discontinuity in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  and therefore it is complex Kleinian.

Notice that from the classical theory of Kleinian groups we know that if  $\Gamma$  is not a finite group, then  $\Lambda(\Gamma)$  consists of one point, two points, or infinitely many points. Hence the Kulkarni limit set of this type of groups consists of one line, two lines or infinitely many lines, which are all concurrent, since they pass through the point  $e_3$ .

One has the following theorem proved by W. Barrera, A. Cano and J. P. Navarrete:

**Theorem 4.1** Let  $\Gamma$  be an infinite discrete subgroup of  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  and let  $\Lambda_{Kul} \subset \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{C}}$  be its Kulkarni limit set. Then:

- i. The set  $\Lambda_{\text{Kul}}$  always contains at least one projective line.
- ii. The number of lines in  $\Lambda_{\text{Kul}}$  is either 1, 2, 3 or infinite.
- iii. The number of lines in  $\Lambda_{\text{Kul}}$  lying in general position is either 1, 2, 3, 4 or infinite.

The first statement in this theorem follows easily from the aforementioned classification results in [25] of the cyclic groups in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$ . Yet, it is worth saying that in [11] is proved that this statement holds also in higher dimensions: The limit set of every complex Kleinian group in  $PSL(n + 1, \mathbb{C})$  contains at least one projective line. The second and third statements in this theorem are proved in [5].

Notice that we already gave examples of limits set with one, two and three lines in their limit set. The complete classification of the groups in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  with at most three lines in their limit set is given in [9]. In [4] the authors give a complete classification of the complex Kleinian groups in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  with exactly four lines in general position in their limit set.

Notice too that the suspension groups described above give examples of groups with infinitely many lines in their limit set, but only two of them are in general position, since they all are concurrent. Yet, these suspension groups show that the structure of the limit set can be at least as rich as that of the classical Kleinian subgroups of  $PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$ .

In [6] the authors give examples of groups in  $PSL(3, \mathbb{C})$  with infinitely many lines in general position in their limit set. In fact the following theorem from [6] shows that the limit set  $\Lambda_{Kul}$  can actually be as rich and complicated as we want:

**Theorem 4.2** Let  $\mathcal{L}$  be an arbitrary collection of lines in  $\mathbb{CP}^2$ , such that the topological closure of their union is not the whole space, i.e.,  $\bigcup \mathcal{L} \neq \mathbb{CP}^2$ . Then there exists a complex Kleinian group G such that  $\bigcup \mathcal{L} \subset \Lambda_{Kul}(G) \neq \mathbb{CP}^2$ . Moreover, G can be chosen so that it does not have neither fixed points nor invariant lines, neither it is complex hyperbolic.

## References

- [1] B. N. Apanasov. *Conformal geometry of discrete groups and manifolds*. De Gruyter Expositions in Mathematics, 32. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 2000.
- [2] A. F. Beardon. The geometry of discrete groups. Springer Verlag, 1983.
- [3] W. Barrera, A. Cano, J. P. Navarrete. The limit set of discrete subgroups of PSL(3, ℂ). Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 150 (2011), no. 1, 129146.
- [4] W. Barrera, A. Cano, J. P. Navarrete. Subgroups of PSL(3,C) with four lines in general position in its limit set. Conform. Geom. Dyn. 15 (2011), 160176.

- [5] W. Barrera, A. Cano, J. P. Navarrete. Estimates of the number of lines lying in the limit set for subgroups of PSL(3, ℂ). Preprint 2010, arXiv:1003.0708.
- [6] W. Barrera, A. Cano, J. P. Navarrete. A 2-dimensional Complex Kleinian Group with Infinite Lines in the limit set lying in general position. Preprint 2010, arXiv:1003.0380
- [7] M. Bridson, A. Haefliger. *Metric spaces of non-positive curvature*. Springer Verlag, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften 319 (1999).
- [8] A. Cano, L. Loeza. *Projective Cyclic Groups in Higher Dimensions*. Preprint 2012, arXiv:1112.4107.
- [9] A. Cano, L. Loeza, J. Seade. Towards Sullivan's dictionary in complex dimension 2. Tentative title, work in preparation.
- [10] A. Cano, J.-P. Navarrete, J. Seade. *Complex Kleinian groups*. Monograph to be published in the series "Progress in Mathematics" of Birkhäuser Verlag.
- [11] A. Cano, J. Seade. On the equicontinuity region of discrete subgroups of PU(n, 1). J. Geom. Anal. 20, No. 2, 291-305 (2010).
- [12] A. Cano, J. Seade Discrete groups of automorphisms of  $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{C}}$ . Preprint, 2012, arXiv:0806.1336.
- [13] W. Cao and K. Gongopadhyay. Algebraic characterization of isometries of the complex and the quaternionic hyperbolic planes. Geometria Dedicata 157 (2012), Number 1, 23-39.
- [14] W. Cao, J. Parker, X. Wang. On the classification of quaternion Mbius transformations. Math. Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc. 137, No. 2, 349-361 (2004).
- [15] S. S. Chen and L. Greenberg. *Hyperbolic Spaces*. In "Contributions to Analysis", a collection of papers dedicated to Lipman Bers. Edited by L. V. Ahlfors *et al.* Academic Press, New York, pp. 49-87 (1974).
- [16] W. Goldman. Complex Hyperbolic Geometry. Oxford Science Publications, 1999.
- [17] K. Gongopadhyay. Algebraic characterization of the isometries of the hyperbolic 5space. Geom. Dedicata 144 (2010), 157–170.
- [18] K. Gongopadhyay, S. Parsad. Classification of quaternionic hyperbolic isometries. Preprint 2012.
- [19] K. Gongopadhyay, J. R. Parker, S. Parsad. Classification of hyperbolic isometries. Work in process, 2012.

- [20] M. Kapovich. Kleinian groups in higher dimensions. In 'Geometry and dynamics of groups and spaces. In memory of Alexander Reznikov". Kapranov, Mikhail (ed.) et al. Birkhuser. Progress in Mathematics 265, 487-564 (2008).
- [21] M. Kapovich. *Hyperbolic manifolds and discrete groups*. Reprint of the 2001 hardback edition. Modern Birkhäuser Classics. Birkhäuser (2009).
- [22] R. S. Kulkarni. Groups with domains of discontinuity. Math. Ann. 237 (1978), 253-272.
- [23] B. Maskit; *Kleinian groups*, Springer Verlag 1988.
- [24] J. P. Navarrete. On the limit set of discrete subgroups of PU(2, 1). Geom. Dedicata 122, 1-13 (2006).
- [25] J. P. Navarrete. The Trace Function and Complex Kleinian Groups in P<sup>2</sup><sub>C</sub>. Int. Jour. of Math. Vol. 19, No. 7 (2008) 865-890.
- [26] J. Seade, A. Verjovsky. Actions of Discrete Groups on Complex Projective Spaces. Contemporary Math., 269 (2001),155-178.
- [27] J. Seade, A. Verjovsky. Higher Dimensional Complex Kleinian groups. Math. Ann., 322 (2002), 279-300.
- [28] J. Seade, A. Verjovsky. Complex Schottky groups. Geometric methods in dynamics. II. Astérisque 287 (2003), xx, 251-272.

Angel Cano & José Seade Unidad Cuernavaca del Instituto de Matemáticas, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México. e-mail: angel@matcuer.unam.mx, jseade@matcuer.unam.mx